2018

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Calvin Paul Steward,
Defendant/Appellant : Brief of Appellant**

Utah Supreme Court

INTRODUCTION

The decision of the Utah Court of Appeals is the only logical, and only constitutional, result of the problem this case presented. An indigent defendant was convicted at trial and was not informed of his right to counsel on appeal, nor was he provided the opportunity to have counsel appointed. His pro se attempt to appeal failed due to his inability to perfect the appeal without professional assistance. The court reasonably concluded that the constitutional right to appeal was infringed when the defendant is not informed of the right to counsel. And in terms of Rule 4(f), because the defendant had not been informed of the right to counsel on appeal and not afforded access to appointed counsel, the defendant was deprived of the right to appeal, even where he filed his own notice of appeal and “gained entry” to the appellate process. The right to appeal is more than the right to file notice of appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

This Court granted certiorari review on the following questions:

1. Whether the Utah Court of Appeals erred in concluding that Rule 4(f) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure permits reinstatement of an appeal, based on a convicted defendant's claim (after a trial) that he was not informed of his right to counsel, after the defendant filed a timely pro se appeal.
2. Whether the Utah Court of Appeals erred in reversing the district court's Determination that Stewart failed to meet his burden of demonstrating he was not informed of his right to counsel on appeal.

On certiorari, this Court reviews the decisions of the court of appeals for correctness. *Manning v. State*, 2005 UT 61, ¶ 10, 122 P.3d 628.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual and Procedural Overview

Calvin Paul Stewart was charged by amended information on October 10, 2001 with multiple felony counts of Securities Fraud, Sale of Unregistered Securities, and Pattern of Unlawful Activity. R.032-36. Stewart was initially represented by private counsel, Richard Mauro, who represented Stewart through a preliminary hearing. R.024, 055, 058. However, before trial Mauro moved to withdraw because Stewart was "presently without funds" and a public defender was appointed. R.120, 146, 151-48. As trial approached, Stewart filed an "Entry of Appearance" for himself. R.171-72. Stewart asked the Court to make a public defender available as standby counsel. R.183. The Utah County Public Defender Association filed opposition to the proposed appointment as standby counsel. R.192-202. Eventually the Court released the public defender and

granted Stewart's request to represent himself pro se at trial. R.210-12. According to the Court minutes, Stewart was "fully advised of his rights to have counsel and of procedural matters." R.211. The Court informed Stewart that he would "be held at the same standard as counsel if he represents himself", and Stewart agreed to proceed pro se. R.212. The Court told Stewart if he "changes his mind and wishes to have counsel represent him at trial he must do so by May 1st." R.212.

Before trial Stewart filed a number of pro se motions, including documents entitled "Mandatory Judicial Notice" of his "Solemn Declaration" (R.219, 221-26), "Notice of Claim of Foreign Sovereign Immunity" (R.312), "Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction" based on sovereign immunity (R.422), "Notice of Felony" (R.471-72), "Notice of Removal of Judge" (R.527), "Notice for Competency and Incompetence, Revocation of Power of Attorney and Firing all Persons below and Demand to cease and desist" (R.533), and "Notice of Withdrawal of Consent to Contract with the Forum Court" (R.558). It seems from the record that these motions were fruitless. At trial Stewart was convicted of all charges and ordered into custody for sentencing. R.570, 625.

Following trial Stewart continued to file unusual pleadings, including "Notice of Mistrial Withdrawal of Consent" (R.634 [see Record Index]), and "Affidavit of Truth" (R.641). At sentencing on August 14, 2003 the trial court sentenced Stewart to prison on all 17 felony counts and ordered each count to run consecutive to each other. R.679-82. The trial court "recommended to the board

of pardons that the defendant serve at least 10 years and that when the defendant is placed on parole that he is not to work in any fiduciary capacity.” R.682.

On September 12, 2003 Stewart filed a timely “Notice of Appeal” (R.689-90) and an “Affidavit of Impecuniosity” (R.692-93) wherein Stewart notified the trial court that “owing to my poverty I am unable to bear the expenses of the appeal for an on behalf of CALVIN PAUL STEWART which I am about to take and that I believe I am entitled of necessity to seek the relief sought by such appeal.” On October 1, 2013 another document titled “Notice of Appeal” was filed, this time signed by Gerrit Timmerman, but its contents actually appears to be a request for transcripts. R.690-91. That was followed up with an Amended Request for Trial Court Transcripts on October 6, 2013, again asking for “the entire transcript of all recorded hearings”. R.705-06 (emphasis in original).

Stewart filed a request for an extension of time to file his docketing statement with the Court of Appeals, and eventually he filed a docketing statement. Following the receipt of the docketing statement, the Court of Appeals issued a sua sponte Motion for Summary Disposition, claiming that the issues raised in the docketing statement did not merit review. The State of Utah responded to the Court of Appeals’ motion by objecting because it believed at least one of the claims should be reviewed on appeal. The Court of Appeals then withdrew its motion and set a briefing schedule, with Stewart’s brief being due May 4, 2004. Stewart did not file a brief and the Court of Appeals dismissed the

appeal on June 2, 2004. The case was remitted to the district court on August 3, 2004.¹

On February 5, 2007 Stewart filed a Motion for Appointment of Counsel to the district court but the Court did not rule on the motion for lack of a notice to submit. On March 30, 2009 Stewart filed a “Motion to Correct Sentence Pursuant to Rule 23(e) UR Crim P” (sic). On April 24, 2009 the court denied that motion.

In June of 2010 Stewart again filed an Affidavit of Impecuniosity along with a Rule 60 “Motion for Relief from Void Judgment” and a request of appointment of counsel. In August of 2010 the court denied the request for counsel and, presumably, the motion for relief. On September 7, 2010 Stewart filed a notice of appeal from that denial along with an Affidavit of Impecuniosity.

Again, the court of appeals found these claims to be without merit and filed its own motion for summary disposition “on the basis that the grounds for relief are so insubstantial as not to merit further consideration.” The court noted that because the claims Stewart raised in his motion “relate to his underlying conviction” his sole remedy was to raise the issue in a post-conviction relief petition. See *State v. Stewart*, 2010 UT App 367 (per curiam).

¹ This information comes from the court of appeal’s file in *State v. Stewart*, Case No. 20030757-CA. Counsel for Stewart obtained a copy of this file from the court archives. A scanned copy of this file was included on the CD with Appellant’s electronic brief to the court of appeals and has been included as an addendum to the electronic brief to this Court as well, though it is not included in the printed brief.

Stewart then petitioned to this Court for a Writ of Certiorari, again requesting a waiver of the filing fees because of his indigence. A subsequent letter from the Supreme Court noted that it “appears that you will not have the assistance of an attorney in preparing papers for filing in this court” and provided a “pro se guide” in hopes that it would be helpful. R.823. Ultimately Stewart’s petition was denied without explanation. R.827.

Stewart’s Motion to Reinstate Direct Appeal

On April 15, 2015 Stewart filed his pro se “Motion to Reinstate Period for Filing Direct Appeal Pursuant to Rule 4(f) URAppP” claiming his hearing impairment was not addressed at trial, that he was not informed of his right to appeal at sentencing, and was not informed of the right to counsel on appeal, along with a “Motion to Appoint Counsel” with and “Affidavit of Impecuniosity”. R.874-80. The State opposed the motion asserting that Stewart’s disabilities “did not surface for at least eight months after the defendant was sentenced” and the Utah Supreme Court “already denied his Appeal”. R.882-84. Stewart filed a pro se reply denying that his hearing disability occurred after trial and sentencing. R.885-87.

On August 12, 2015 the district court appointed the Utah County Public Defender Association to represent Stewart and scheduled oral argument on the motion to reinstate for October 7, 2015. R.911. At that hearing the parties and the court agreed that Stewart’s pro se motion should be amended and set oral argument. R.1180-83. Defendant, now represented by counsel, filed his

amendment to the motion to reinstate his appeal and asked the court to set an evidentiary hearing. R.920-31. Stewart claimed he had been denied his right to appeal because he had the constitutional right to counsel on appeal, but because he was not informed of that right and was not offered appointment of counsel for appeal, his appeal failed for lack of filing a brief. R.928-31.

The State responded to the merits² of the claim by arguing that Stewart's claim failed because it did not fall within the "three circumstances" set out in *Manning*. R.937. The State took the position that Stewart appeal was denied, but only due to his own fault. R.938.

Stewart's reply asserted that the circumstances in *Manning* were not the only ways in which a person could demonstrate they had been denied their right to appeal. R.946-47. Stewart claimed that the denial of his right to appeal, based upon the trial court's failure to inform him of his right to counsel on appeal, was "self-evident based on his constitutional rights both to counsel and to appeal." R.947-48. Stewart cited cases from Kansas which established that principle. R.948-49.

Evidentiary Hearing on Amended Motion to Reinstate (February 10, 2016)

Stewart testified that after being unable to afford his private counsel and disagreeing with his appointed counsel, he ultimately represented himself at trial.

² Most of the State's arguments below focused on challenging the district court's jurisdiction to entertain Stewart's motion to reinstate. The trial court eventually concluded it did have jurisdiction to hear the motion. R.975-77. The question of the trial court's jurisdiction has not been challenged on appeal.

R.1116-19. Stewart recalled that after his appointed counsel was released, the judge informed him that if he did not have a new attorney soon, then he would have to proceed without one. R.1124-25. Stewart understood this to mean that he would have no further right to an attorney. R.1125. At that time, the trial court did not inform him that he had a right to counsel on appeal. R.1119.

After his conviction, Stewart was sentenced to prison and remains incarcerated there. R.1116, 1119. At sentencing the judge did not inform Stewart of his right to appeal. R.1120. The court did not inform Stewart of the right to have an attorney appointed to represent him on appeal. R.1120. If the judge had informed Stewart of his right to an attorney on appeal he would have asked for one because he “knew [that he] was way in over [his] head.” R.1120.

A non-attorney friend, Gerrit Timmerman, drafted the notice of appeal and docketing statement for Stewart, and Stewart signed the docketing statement while in court on another case. R.1120-21. Stewart hoped Timmerman would provide more assistance but recalled:

The last time I talked to him I was in prison. I called him on the phone. He asked me what grounds I wanted, I told him that the main thing I wanted was the thing on the hearing, my hearing problem. Other than that I told him, I don't really know enough about it to make any decisions. He asked me for some money. I told him I didn't have it. That was it.

R.1121-22. At the prison Stewart wrote a letter to the contract attorneys asking for assistance on his appeal but received a response that “they did not do appeals.”

R.1121.

Throughout the intervening years since his appeal was dismissed, Stewart filed multiple petitions and motions without the help of an attorney. He testified, “I kept requesting attorneys and it was kept being denied.” (sic) R.1122.³

District Court’s Ruling (July 18, 2016)

On June 29, 2016 the district court denied Stewart’s Motion to Reinstate Period for Filing Direct Appeal for three reasons: first, the court held that Stewart’s requests to represent himself in his jury trial and during sentencing, coupled with his “choice” to proceed in his appeal *pro se*, amounted to a “constructive waiver” of his right to an attorney on appeal. R.1154. Second, the court held that Stewart was at fault in failing to meet the procedural hurdles of the appellate process, barring him from relief under Rule 4(f). *Id.* And, third, the court held that the significant delays in Stewart’s appeal, combined with a “mere claim” by Stewart that he was not informed of his right to appellate counsel created a dispositive lack of evidence. R.1155-57.

³ See R.737 (Motion for Appointment of Counsel, January 31, 2007); R.771 (Motion for Appointment of Counsel, June 14, 2010); R.776 (Affidavit of Impecuniosity, June 21, 2010 [“I have no valuable assets that can be readily sold to pay the costs of an attorney”]); R.797 (Notice to Submit for Decision on Motion for Appoint of Counsel); R.811-12 (Affidavit of Impecuniosity, September 7, 2010); R.871 (Motion for Appointment of Counsel); R.874 (Motion to Reinstate Period for Filing Direct Appeal Pursuant to Rule 4(f) URAppP, April 5, 2015 [“shall appoint counsel”]); R.877 (Motion for Appointment of Counsel, April 15, 2015); R.878 (Affidavit of Impecuniosity).

Decision of the Utah Court of Appeals

On August 16, 2018 the Utah Court of Appeals issued its opinion in this matter. *State v. Stewart*, 2018 UT App 151, --- P.3d ---. The court of appeals agreed with Stewart that a “defendant is entitled to be informed of his right to counsel on appeal, and this right is inherent in a defendant’s right to appeal.” *Id.* at ¶14. This position is consistent with the 2018 amendment of Rule 22(c)(1) of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, which requires that the sentencing court “advise the defendant of defendant’s right to appeal... and the right to retain counsel or have counsel appointed by the court if indigent.”

The court of appeals also held that the district court erred in denying Stewart’s Motion to Reinstate Time to Appeal because Stewart demonstrated by a preponderance of evidence that he was deprived of the right to appeal because he was not informed of his right to counsel on appeal. *Id.* at ¶20. *See also*, UTAH R. APP. PRO. 4(f).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The constitutional right to appeal includes the right to counsel on appeal. The act of filing notice of appeal does not cure the deprivation of counsel on appeal. When a defendant is deprived of counsel on appeal, his right to appeal is deprived. The State’s reliance on one paragraph in *Rees* flies in the face of the rest of the statutory, rules, and constitutional law regarding the right to counsel. The court of appeals’ interpretation of Rule 4(f) and *Manning* is the correct and only constitutional interpretation.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded that Rule 4(f) Permits Reinstatement of Stewart's Appeal Because He Was Deprived of a Meaningful First Right of Appeal When He was Not Informed of His Right Counsel on Appeal

At the heart of this review of the court of appeals' decision is the essence of what is required for a meaningful right to appeal and what constitutes a first appeal of right. In concluding that Stewart had been denied such an opportunity to his first right of appeal—though he had filed a pro se notice of appeal—the court of appeals, contrary to the assertions of the State, got it right and correctly applied Rule 4(f) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure and the remedial holding and framework created by this Court in *Manning v. State*, 2005 UT 61, 122 P3d 628.

The scope of Rule 4(f), of *Manning*, and other decisions from state and federal courts establish that the question of reinstatement of an appeal turns on more than the simple act of filing a notice of appeal. It turns on far more fundamental questions, and constitutional protections such as due process, equal protection. It turns on fairness rather than a mechanical act. In this case, Stewart did not choose to proceed pro se on his appeal from 17 felony convictions following a jury trial for which he was sentenced to consecutive terms at the Utah State Prison. Instead, he was unaware and unadvised as to the constitutional protections afforded him to the right to counsel as an indispensable part of the right to appeal.

A. A direct appeal from a criminal conviction is an integral stage of the criminal process where indigent defendants must be afforded the assistance of counsel and advised that they have the right to counsel on appeal

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that in “all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense.” U.S. CONST. AMEND. VI. Moreover, the right to counsel exists at “every stage of a criminal proceeding where substantial rights of a criminal accused might be effected.” *Mempa v. Ray*, 389 US 128, 134, 88 S.Ct. 254, 19 L.Ed.2d 336 (1967). This right has been combined with the due process protections of the Fourteenth Amendment to create a “duty of the trial judge, where the accused is unable to employ counsel, to appoint counsel for him.” *Powell v. Alabama*, 287 U.S. 45, 73, 53 S.Ct. 55, 77 L.Ed. 158 (1932). Moreover, “the Fourteenth Amendment guarantees a criminal appellant pursuing a first appeal as of right certain minimum safeguards necessary to make that appeal ‘adequate and effective,’ see *Griffin v. Illinois*, 351 U.S. 12, 20 (1956); among those safeguards is the right to counsel, see *Douglas v. California*, 372 U.S. 353 (1963).” *Evitts v. Lucey*, 469 U.S. 387, 392, 105 S.Ct. 830, 83 L.Ed.2d 821 (1985).

Similarly, Article I, § 12 of the Utah Constitution provides that “In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right... to appeal in all cases.” “This shows that the drafters of our constitution considered the right of appeal essential to a fair criminal proceeding. Rights guaranteed by our state constitution are to be carefully protected by the courts. We will not permit them

to be lightly forfeited.” *Stewart*, 2018 UT App 151, ¶11 (quoting *State v. Tuttle*, 713 P.2d 703, 704 (Utah 1985)). This Court, as cited by the court of appeals, has also determined that the Utah Constitution assures that “an accused be provided with the assistance of counsel at every important stage of the proceedings against him.” *Ford v. State*, 2008 UT 66, ¶16, 199 P.3d 892 (quoting *State v. Eichler*, 483 P.2d 887, 889 (Utah 1971)). *See also*, *Stewart*, 2018 UT App 151, ¶12.

That the right to counsel at trial is a separate right from the right to trial on appeal is highlighted in *Douglas v. People of State of California*, 372 U.S. 353, 83 S.Ct. 814, 9 L.Ed.2d 811 (1963). In that case two indigent defendants were given counsel at the trial level, whom they subsequently dismissed. At trial, they were convicted and sought counsel to appeal their convictions. They were denied counsel because the California District Court of Appeals thought that “no good whatever could be served by the appointment of counsel.” *Douglas*, 372 U.S. at 355. The Supreme Court concluded that indigent defendants had the right to counsel on appeal because to hold otherwise would mean that “an unconstitutional line had been drawn between rich and poor” *Id.* at 357. Implicit in *Douglas* is the proposition that the right to counsel at trial and the right to counsel on appeal are separate and distinct rights. This is so because the defendants in *Douglas* had dismissed their trial counsel and proceed at trial *pro se*, yet the Supreme Court did not conclude that this meant they had waived their rights to counsel on appeal also.

Accordingly, the right to the assistance of counsel on appeal must be accorded to every criminal defendant. *Accord State v. Johnson*, 635 P.2d 36, 37 (Utah 1981) (An indigent defendant “has the constitutional right to the appointment of counsel to assist” him on appeal (citing *Douglas v. California*, 372 U.S. 353, 83 S.Ct. 814 (1963))). *See also Stewart*, 2018 UT App 151, ¶12. Thus, a critical part of the right to appeal is the right to counsel on appeal, particularly for those indigent defendants who are pro se and/or have been convicted at trial by a court or jury, and who wish to appeal.

B. The assistance of counsel is an “integral part” of the right to appeal

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