Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (2000-)

2018

State of Utah, Plaintiff/Petitioner, v. Calvin Paul Stewart, Defendant/Respondent : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

n.1, -P.3d-. The court of appeals' decision should be reversed for two reasons.

First, the sole purpose of rule 4(f) is restore the right to appeal to a defendant who was "deprived" of that right because he was "prevented" from filing a timely notice of appeal. *Collins*, 2014 UT 61, ¶31 (cleaned up); *Rees*, 2005 UT 69, ¶¶17–18. The court of appeals' decision erroneously extends reinstatement relief to defendants who already appealed.

Second, rule 4(f) provides no remedy to a defendant who is unsatisfied with the quality of his appeal, even if the quality of the appeal is affected by the lack of counsel. *See Rees*, 2005 UT 69, ¶¶19–20. The court of appeals' concern with whether Stewart was informed of his right to counsel to prosecute his timely filed appeal is irrelevant to whether he was prevented from timely filing the appeal in the first place.

The court of appeals' decision stands in opposition to this Court's precedent and the plain language and purpose of rule 4(f) by reinstating Stewart's right to appeal when that right was clearly not violated. This Court should reverse.

A. Reinstating the Period to Appeal Is Not Available to a Defendant Who Filed a Timely *Pro Se* Appeal

Rule 4(f) codifies the reinstatement remedy this Court first established in *Manning v. State*, 2005 UT 61, 122 P.3d 628. *See* Utah R. App. P. 4(f) & adv. comm. note. The Court in *Manning* supplanted the so-called *Johnson* remedy, which had been created to restore the right to appeal in "situations in which a defendant was *prevented from bringing* a timely appeal through no fault of his own." Manning, 2005 UT 61, ¶12 (emphasis added); see State v. Johnson, 635 P.2d 36, 38 (Utah 1981). Because "the evolution of statutory law and procedural rules" made the *Johnson* remedy "no longer feasible," the *Manning* Court created a new "readily accessible and procedurally simple method" to restore a denied right to appeal. Manning, 2005 UT 61, ¶¶14, 25-26; see id. ¶¶15–25 (describing evolution of the law and procedures). But the purpose remained the same. Id. ¶26. Thus, for almost forty years, there has been but one objective to the reinstatement remedy – to provide "relief for defendants who have not filed a direct appeal because their right to appeal has been unconstitutionally denied." *Id.* ¶24 (emphasis added).

The *Manning* Court made clear that reinstatement is only available to defendants who did not file a timely notice of appeal. *See id.* ¶¶12, 24. "[C]riminal defendants who *fail to file* a notice of appeal within the required time period are presumed to have knowingly and voluntarily waived" the right to appeal and have exhausted their appellate remedies. *Id.* ¶¶1, 24 (emphasis added). But the new reinstatement procedure gives a defendant the opportunity to prove that his failure to file an appeal was not a waiver,

but "that he ha[d] been unconstitutionally deprived, through no fault of his own, of his right to appeal." *Id.* ¶31; *see id.* ¶¶1, 32; *see also State v. Kabor*, 2013 UT App 12, ¶14, 295 P.3d 193 ("the reinstatement inquiry focuses…on whether the defendant's failure to file an appeal was a voluntary and knowing choice").

Thus, to be eligible for the reinstatement remedy, a defendant must have "failed to appeal within the required thirty-day time period." *Manning*, 2005 UT 61, ¶32. Only then can a defendant invoke rule 4(f) and attempt to prove that something beyond his control prevented him from timely appealing. *Id.* ¶¶31–32.²

Since *Manning*, this Court has reemphasized that a defendant who files a timely notice of appeal has not been denied the right to appeal, making rule 4(f) inapplicable. In *State v. Rees*, 2005 UT 69, ¶¶17–19, 125 P.3d 874, decided only two months after *Manning*, the Court held that the reinstatement remedy

² The prerequisite of a defendant failing to appeal before reinstatement even becomes an option was central to the *Manning* decision. The Court referred to Manning's or a hypothetical defendant's failure to appeal at least fourteen times throughout the opinion. *See Manning*, 2005 UT 61, ¶¶1, 7, 8, 24, 31, 32, 33, 38, 42. But it never even suggested that a defendant who did appeal could seek reinstatement. Indeed, such a suggestion would have contradicted the central framework of requiring a defendant to prove that his failure to appeal was not a knowing and voluntary waiver of the right to appeal.

is not available to a defendant who filed a timely notice of appeal. The Court explained that a denial of the right to appeal discussed in *Manning* occurs when a defendant was "'prevented'" from "'proceeding'" with an appeal. Id. ¶17 (quoting *Manning*, 2005 UT 69, ¶24). It then explained what "proceeding" "the act of with appeal means: 'proceeding' with an an appeal...encompass[es] filing a notice of appeal, not more." Id. ¶18. Therefore, a defendant is only denied his right to appeal when he is "prevented" from filing a timely notice of appeal.

More recently, this Court reaffirmed that a defendant who appealed was not deprived of the right to appeal. First, the Court held that claims for reinstatement are subject to harmless error review to "ensure[] that reinstatement relief is given only to those defendants who *fail to appeal* through no fault of their own." *Collins*, 2014 UT 61, ¶40 (cleaned up) (emphasis added). Thus, rule 4(f) requires a defendant to prove that "something outside of his control cause[d] the *failure to appeal*" and that but for that interference, he would have appealed. *Id.* ¶¶31–33, 43 (emphasis added). Finally, the Court continued by stating plainly that "[a] defendant who actually files an appeal...has not been prevented from proceeding with an appeal and suffers no harm." *Id.* ¶42.

In sum, throughout its history, this Court has consistently limited the remedy of restarting the time to file a direct appeal to defendants who were prevented from filing a notice of appeal within the original thirty-day period. Nothing more. It is not intended to allow a defendant who timely appealed to have a second direct appeal after the first one was unsuccessful.

Under this clear and unbroken precedent, Stewart, who filed a timely notice of appeal, was not denied his right to appeal and has no claim under rule 4(f). The court of appeals erred when it held otherwise. That decision is fundamentally at odds with the purpose of rule 4(f) and this Court's precedent. It should be reversed.

B. The Court of Appeals' Concern With the Alleged Denial of Stewart's Right to Counsel on Appeal Does Not Fall Within the Ambit of Rule 4(f)

The court of appeals dismissed this Court's precedent in a footnote. *Stewart*, 2018 UT App 151, ¶10 n.1. The court essentially ignored *Collins*, with its definitive statement that "[a] defendant who actually files an appeal…has not been prevented from proceeding with an appeal and suffers no harm," *Collins*, 2014 UT 61, ¶42, relegating the entire case to a single citation without explanation. And it claimed that *Rees* was "inapplicable" because it "did not contemplate a situation in which a defendant was denied the right to appeal by being denied the right to counsel." *Stewart*, 2018 UT App 151, ¶10 n.1.

The court of appeals' focus on Stewart's right to counsel misses the point. Because Stewart filed a timely notice of appeal, he was not denied his right to appeal. Whether that timely appeal unfolded in a way that conflicted with Stewart's constitutional rights is a matter for post-conviction review; it does not merit a second direct appeal.

1. Reinstating the period to file a second direct appeal is not the proper remedy for a defendant who already filed a direct appeal *pro se*, even if he was not told he could have had counsel on his first appeal

As explained, the purpose of the reinstatement remedy is to give someone the opportunity to appeal who lost it through no fault of his own. It is not to give a second appeal to someone who exercised the right to appeal merely because the first would have been more meaningful with counsel.

Rees made this clear when it held that the right to appeal is not denied even if the appeal itself is not meaningful. After Rees' appellate counsel failed to prepare an adequate record, resulting in the affirmance of his conviction on that basis, Rees sought to reinstate his appeal, claiming that he was denied his right to appeal because his counsel was ineffective. *Rees*, 2005 UT 69, ¶¶2– 5. The court of appeals held that the trial court should have reinstated the time to appeal because Rees' right to a "meaningful appeal" was denied. *Id.* ¶¶5–6, 19. This Court reversed, holding that Rees was not deprived of his right to appeal because he appealed. *Id.* ¶20. Relying on *Manning*, this Court determined that ineffective assistance of counsel on appeal "does not" "constitute a denial of the right to appeal." *Id.* ¶15. So long as a defendant "gain[s] entry to appellate courts," by "filing of a notice of appeal, not more," the right to appeal has been preserved, even if the appeal is concluded "by a ruling on the merits or involuntary dismissal." *Id.* ¶18. Once that appeal is over, a defendant must pursue post-conviction relief. *Id.* ¶18, 20.

The *Rees* Court rejected the court of appeals' characterization that reinstatement was appropriate when a defendant was denied "a *meaningful appeal.*" *Id.* ¶19. Although the *Manning* Court used the term meaningful, it was used to describe "the type of conduct or circumstance that deprived a defendant of access to the appellate process," not the appeal itself. *Id.* The court of appeals' use incorrectly suggested that reinstatement relief was "available to provide an additional direct appeal to a defendant whose appeal has resulted in an unfavorable outcome." *Id.* But a defendant is not entitled to a second appeal by claiming his first one was not "meaningful." *Id.* Rather, as explained, he must show that he was wholly prevented from filing an appeal. *Id.* ¶¶17–18.

The court of appeals has repeated the error it made in *Rees*—it incorrectly focused on whether Stewart's appeal was meaningful because he did not have counsel to prepare a brief, *Stewart*, 2018 UT App 151, ¶¶11–14, 18, rather than on the real issue rule 4(f) is designed to address—whether Stewart was "prevented" from filing an appeal in the first place, *Rees*, 2005 UT 69, ¶¶17–19.

The court of appeals held that "[i]f an indigent defendant is not made aware of the right to counsel, he 'has been prevented in some meaningful way from proceeding with a first appeal of right.'" *Stewart*, 2018 UT App 151, ¶13 (quoting *Manning*, 2005 UT 61, ¶26). But as explained, a defendant is only "prevented from proceeding with an appeal" if he is prevented from filing a timely notice of appeal. *Rees*, 2005 UT 69, ¶¶17–18. And even if Stewart was not made aware of his right to counsel, that did not prevent him from "proceeding with an appeal" – he filed one. R689–90.

The court of appeals, nevertheless, believed that Stewart was denied his right to appeal because he lacked counsel to help him file a brief. *See Stewart*, 2018 UT App 151, ¶18. But whether a defendant files an appellate brief, with or without counsel, is irrelevant to the only material question under rule 4(f) – whether his right to appeal was wholly denied. The *Rees* Court did not say that the act of "proceeding with an appeal" encompasses filing a notice of appeal, filing a brief, obtaining a decision on the merits, and doing all of it with the assistance of counsel. It said, "the act of 'proceeding' with an appeal...encompass[es] filing a notice of appeal, *not more*." *Rees*, 2005 UT 69, ¶18 (emphasis added). And that once a defendant files a notice of appeal and "gain[s] entry to appellate courts," as Stewart did here, he has exhausted his right to appeal, even if the appeal is dismissed involuntarily, as Stewart's was. *Id*.

Certainly, an appeal litigated with the assistance of counsel to prepare a brief would have been better. But rule 4(f) is not intended to assure a better appeal. It is designed only to remedy the complete denial of an appeal. Because Stewart filed a timely notice of appeal, it is inconsequential for purposes of reinstatement that his appeal would have been more meaningful had he been aided by counsel. Rule 4(f), therefore, is not applicable in Stewart's situation. Such defendants have "exhausted their remedy of direct appeal" and may not seek "an additional direct appeal," as Stewart has done, and which the court of appeals has erroneously granted. *Id.* ¶¶18–19.

Defendants in Stewart's position, however, are not left without a remedy. Those defendants who exhausted their right to appeal but whose appeals were defaulted in a way that violated a constitutional may seek appropriate relief through the Post-Conviction Remedies Act. *See id.* ¶18; *see*

also Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-102(1)(a) (West Supp. 2017) (PCRA "establishes the sole remedy for any person who challenges a conviction or sentence for a criminal offense and who has exhausted all other legal remedies, including a direct appeal"). But a defendant may not circumvent the exclusive remedy and one-year statute of limitations of the PCRA by disguising his claim as one of a denial of the right to appeal. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 78B-9-102(1)9a) & 107; Utah R. Civ. P. 65C(a).

The court of appeals' decision attempts an expansive redefinition of what constitutes an "appeal" in a way that allows for multiple direct appeals until a defendant gets one that is "meaningful." This Court rejected that expansion once and should reject it again.

2. Failing to inform a defendant of the right to counsel on appeal cannot without more deprive a defendant of the right to appeal

The court of appeals held that Stewart was denied his right to appeal because it believed that Stewart was not "properly advise[d]" of the right to appeal when he was not informed of the right to counsel on appeal. *Stewart*, 2018 UT App 151, ¶¶14, 18, 24. Even if the court had been correct that properly advising a defendant of his right to appeal requires telling him that he may have counsel on appeal, the error was harmless because Stewart appealed. But the court of appeals was not correct. This Court has made clear that the failure to "properly advise" a defendant of the right to appeal is harmless and cannot be a denial of the right to appeal if the defendant appeals despite the court's failure. *Collins*, 2014 UT 61, ¶42. Thus, if failing to advise a defendant of the right to counsel warrants any consideration at all within the context of rule 4(f), it is only to determine whether that failure prevented a defendant from filing an appeal. *See id.; Manning*, 2005 UT 61, ¶26. And when it does not, it is of no consequence for purposes of rule 4(f).

In any event, not advising a defendant of his right to counsel on appeal is not a failure to "properly" advise him of his right to appeal. In *Manning*, this Court established three ways that a defendant could be denied the right to appeal, one of which was if "the court or the defendant's attorney failed to properly advise defendant of the right to appeal." *Manning*, 2005 UT 61, ¶31. The Court in *Collins* assumed that being "properly" advised of the right to appeal means only that the defendant was informed that (1) he has a right to appeal, and (2) that he must do so within thirty-days of sentencing, as required by rule 22(c)(1) of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure. *Id.* ¶26; *see* Utah R. Crim. P. 22(c)(1) (2017) ("Following imposition of sentence, the court shall advise the defendant of defendant's right to appeal and the time within which any appeal shall be filed.").

Likewise, at the time of Stewart's sentencing, rule 22(c) required a court to provide defendants with only the same two pieces of information. Utah R. Crim. P. 22(c) (2003). The State is unaware of any other law, rule, case, or procedure that existed at the time of Stewart's sentencing that required a trial court to tell a defendant that he could have counsel on appeal, let alone that stated that failing to do so constituted a denial of the right to appeal and therefore warranted reinstatement of the time to appeal. Particularly here, where Stewart had previously waived his right to counsel and elected to proceed pro se at trial and at sentencing, and then continued pro se on his appeal. See R210–12. A court need not continually readvise a defendant of his right to counsel once that right has been waived. See State v. Tharp, 395 N.W.2d 762, 764 (Neb. 1986) ("once a defendant has been informed of his right to counsel, there is no requirement that the same information be conveyed to a defendant on each subsequent court appearance").

It was not until May 1, 2018—almost fifteen years after Stewart's sentencing—that rule 22(c)(1) was amended to require a court to inform defendants at sentencing of "the right to retain counsel or have counsel appointed by the court if indigent." Utah R. Crim. P. 22(c)(1) (2018); *see Stewart*, 2018 UT App 151, ¶14 n.4.

-24-

Accordingly, the failure to advise a defendant at sentencing of the right to counsel on appeal, at least prior to May 1, 2018, does not mean that the defendant was not "properly advised" of his right to appeal for purposes of rule 4(f).³

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